THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-002522  
Case No. 2010-CP-5743

---

Gregory J. Feldman, MD, Joseph A. Boscia, III, MD, and  
Upstate Lung & Critical Care Specialists, PC,

Appellants,

v.

Ray E. "Chuck" Thompson, and Charles M. Fogarty, MD,

Respondents.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

---

**RECEIVED**

APR 24 2018

April 20, 2018 SC Court of Appeals

F. Milton Mann, Jr., Esquire  
151 Harold Fleming Court  
Spartanburg, SC 29303  
(864) 680-5079  
Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Court of Common Pleas err in granting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment respecting Appellant's claim for Abuse of Process due to triable issues of disputed facts regarding the statute of limitations?
2. Did the Court of Common Pleas err in granting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment by determining that equitable tolling and Judicial Estoppel did not apply to Appellants' claims despite allegations of material misrepresentations and active concealment of the Respondents including, but not limited to suborning perjury, perjury and discovery abuses?

## Statement of the Case

The lower court action was commenced on October 27, 2010, when Appellants filed a Summons and Complaint initiating an action for Abuse of Process and Civil Conspiracy in the Spartanburg County Court of Common Pleas against Respondents seeking damages, along with attorneys' fees and costs, arising as a result of alleged wrongdoings during a medical malpractice action captioned William Mark Casey v. Gregory J. Feldman, M.D., Joseph A. Boscia, III, M.D., Devendra Shantha, M.D. and Upstate Lung and Critical Care Specialists, PC, filed in the Court of Common Pleas for Spartanburg County, Seventh Judicial Circuit, case number 2006-CP-42-1728 and tried, commencing on May 11, 2010, before the Honorable Roger L. Couch to a defense verdict on May 28, 2010.

Respondents moved to dismiss Appellants' original Complaint in lieu of answering same. Upon hearing the oral arguments of Respondents before the Honorable Roger L. Couch, on May 19, 2011, Appellants filed an Amended Complaint on June 16, 2011, as of right, reasserting against Respondents claims for abuse of process and civil conspiracy. Respondents moved to dismiss the Amended Complaint with the motion being heard before the Honorable Roger L. Couch on September 8, 2011. The Appellants moved for leave of court to file their Second Amended Complaint. Leave was granted by Judge Couch, with a subsequent Order dated October 6, 2011, and said Second Amended Complaint was filed as instructed on October 11, 2011. Respondents renewed their motions to dismiss. The motion was granted. Appellants timely filed their Notice of Motion and Motion for Reconsideration and to Amend on April 9, 2012. On May 16, 2012, Appellants received written notice of entry of the April 30, 2012 Form 4

Order denying Appellants Motion for Reconsideration.

On August 28, 2012, Notice of Appeal was filed. In Unpublished Opinion No. 2014-UP 273, heard June 4, 2014 and filed June 30, 2014, the S.C. Court of Appeals affirmed in part, reversed in part and remanded the circuit court's decision. The Court of Appeals agreed that the circuit court misapplied the discovery rule in dismissing Appellants' complaint for abuse of process. On May 19, 2015 the case was remitted to the lower court.

Defendants' Amended Motion for Summary Judgement with Exhibit A was filed on March 30, 2017. Stipulation of Dismissal with Prejudice as to William Mark Casey occurred on July 18, 2017. Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment was granted by order dated July 20, 2017. Plaintiff's filed a Motion for Reconsideration dated July 31, 2017. Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration was denied on November 14, 2017. Plaintiffs' Notice of Appeal was filed December 8, 2017.

### Statement of Facts

Appellants allege the following relevant facts from their Second Amended Complaint, which are quoted herein:

4. The medical malpractice action out of which this complaint arose was captioned William Mark Casey v. Gregory J. Feldman, M.D., Joseph A. Boscia, III, M.D., Devendra Shantha, M.D. and Upstate Lung and Critical Care Specialists, PC, filed in the Court of Common Pleas for Spartanburg County, Seventh Judicial Circuit, case number 2006-CP-42-1728.

5. In the medical malpractice action, (Respondent) Mr. William Mark Casey through his attorney, (Respondent) Mr. Ray E. “Chuck” Thompson, alleged (Appellants) Drs. Feldman, Boscia and Shantha breached the standard of care respecting his medical treatment and as a result of which Mr. Casey suffered permanent brain damage that rendered him totally disabled.

18. Mr. Casey came under the care of (Respondent) Charles Fogarty, M.D., another Spartanburg Pulmonologist, after Drs. Feldman and Boscia would not support Mr. Casey’s disability claims.

19. To their misfortunes, Dr. Fogarty was well known by Drs. Feldman and Boscia, prior to the medical malpractice action in a very negative way.

20. Before Drs. Feldman and Boscia became partners within Upstate Lung and Critical Care Specialists, PC, Drs. Feldman and Fogarty had been partners for a number of years.

21. The Feldman/Fogarty separation from joint medical practice was so acrimonious, in 2000, the event was very well known within the medical community of Spartanburg.

24. As a result of Dr. Fogarty's efforts to hamper the business efforts of Drs. Feldman and Boscia, in 2005 they were forced to sue Dr. Fogarty to clear their names and in an effort to prevent further damage to their reputations and business.

25. The Complaint was captioned S. Carolina Pharmaceutical Research v. Charles M. Fogarty, M.D., filed in the Court of Common Pleas for Spartanburg County, Seventh Judicial Circuit, case number 2005-CP-42-1085.

26. During the S. Carolina lawsuit, Dr. Fogarty, in a couple of ways, saw his involvement with Mr. Casey as a golden opportunity to retaliate against Drs. Feldman and Boscia for his perceived wrongs of them starting a research company and filing suit against him.

27. First, Dr. Fogarty continued masterminding the generation of the unfounded "permanent brain injury" claims to injure his business competitors by damage to their reputation and through bogging them down for years in the protracted litigation defending against his scheme.

39. Dr. Fogarty actively sought to mislead the doctors and their attorneys of his level and the purpose of involvement in the litigation by seeing Mr. Casey within his research facility as opposed to his medical practice, which would have created medical records that could have been discovered.

40. In addition, Dr. Fogarty conducted complex medical testing on Mr. Casey at his research facility, yet he did not maintain the medical records in an effort to conceal

the purpose of his involvement and in order to harm the doctors' discovery efforts thereby prolonging the medical malpractice case.

41. Until his deposition on December 22, 2008, Dr. Fogarty was very successful in shielding his role in the "permanent brain injury" scheme by his active efforts to obstruct and evade his deposition.

42. Dr. Fogarty and Mr. Thompson went to great lengths to ensure that Dr. Fogarty's role as an "expert" witness was concealed until the 11th hour from the doctors and their attorneys to further frustrate discovery efforts and to hide his level of involvement in the execution of the "permanent brain injury" scheme.

44. Even throughout his deposition, Dr. Fogarty continued his attempts to hide his role as a mastermind of the lawsuit and his level of involvement in the medical malpractice action by making material misrepresentations.

51. Dr. Fogarty and Mr. Thompson willingly implemented Dr. Fogarty's "permanent brain injury" baseless claim with ruthless disregard for the rights of the Plaintiffs.

77. In an effort to meet Mr. Casey's needs thereby ensuring his continuation in the scheme, Mr. Thompson became active in seeking a reversal of his Aetna disability denials, despite not being his attorney in such matters because the denials did not suit his personal needs or agenda.

78. Mr. Thompson's initial efforts centered around the purposeful redaction of Mr. Casey's medical records that were provided to both treating and retained expert witness with willful intent to make it appear that Mr. Casey suffered from a "permanent brain injury."

79. Despite the team's best efforts, Aetna fully rejected Mr. Casey's disability claim on October 13, 2006 in a letter addressed to Mr. Thompson.

80. In the rejection package, Aetna gave the team an analysis of the viability of the "permanent brain injury" claim, which included detailed reports from a Consulting Neuropsychologist and a Board Certified Neurologist.

81. In summary of the rejection, Aetna said that the speculations of Dr. Fogarty were not supported by objective neurological evidence or abnormal neurological examination findings.

82. Instead of heeding Aetna's review and addressing the stated concerns about the lack of any support for the existence of a legitimate "permanent brain injury" claim, the team continues to move forward with the medical malpractice scheme and fails to produce the Aetna report during discovery.

83. The Doctors' attorneys had to seek assistance from the Court to obtain a release from Mr. Casey to request the records directly from Aetna as opposed to Mr. Thompson merely turning over the report.

84. Mr. Thompson did place importance on one piece of information within the Aetna report, the need for an MRI study of the brain.

85. However, Mr. Thompson knew full well, based on the Aetna report, that a negative MRI study would be a death nail for the scheme.

86. Therefore in the cover of secrecy, Mr. Thompson, set the stage for an MRI to be performed on Mr. Casey's brain under a fictitious name and date of birth.

87. Mr. Thompson arranged for the test through his brother-in-law, a North Carolina general surgeon having no connection to Mr. Casey or the case, to be performed at an out of state hospital.

88. The Radiologist's report of the MRI test results stated that the MRI was negative.

89. Mr. Thompson received this report, and then continued to litigate the matter for eighteen months thereafter without revealing the MRI test or the radiology report.

90. To maintain the secrecy of the MRI test and findings, Mr. Thompson instructed his client to deny having any diagnostic medical tests, including specifically, the MRI, in his sworn deposition testimony less than seven months after the MRI was performed.

91. At all times material, Mr. Thompson despite being well aware of his duties to the Court pursuant to Rule 3.3, Candor Toward The Tribunal, willfully sought to injure the Plaintiffs by instructing Mr. Casey to lie under oath and by Mr. Thompson's failure to protect the candor of the proceedings within the medical malpractice case.

92. Ultimately, the Doctors' counsel only learned of the test fortuitously by virtue of an anonymous letter sent to attorney Spencer King.

94. It was a materially important piece of evidence to the Doctors, which was withheld, concealed, and secreted from them by Mr. Casey and Mr. Thompson, with a very high degree of impropriety.

95. By the time the Doctors' counsel received the Casey affidavit confirming the MRI and the results of the MRI, in excess of thirty depositions had been taken.

96. This included all of the Doctors, eight treating physicians and five medical experts.

99. The medical malpractice action was tried before the Court and a jury in the Spartanburg County Court of Common Pleas, commencing May 11, 2010.

100. After 14 trial days, the jury returned a verdict in favor of the Doctors on May 28, 2010 after deliberating between two and two and one-half hours.

125. Between February 4, 2007 and 2009, Mr. Casey, in furtherance of Dr. Fogarty and Mr. Thompson's permanent brain damage conspiracy, willingly took part with Mr. Thompson, and other unnamed third party(ies) in the scheme to circumvent the Rules of Civil Procedure.

126. Mr. Casey, in furtherance of Dr. Fogarty and Mr. Thompson's scheme to establish civil liability against Drs. Feldman and Boscia for causing Mr. Casey fictitious permanent brain damage, agreed to conceal the fact that on February 4, 2007 he had an MRI study of his brain.

127. Mr. Casey, in furtherance of Dr. Fogarty and Mr. Thompson's permanent brain damage conspiracy, agreed and proceeded to lie under oath in his deposition of August 30, 2007, in a willful and knowing effort to conceal the existence of the MRI report and image disc dated February 4, 2007.

128. Mr. Casey willingly participated in the concealment of the MRI report and image disc dated February 4, 2007, of the MRI study of his brain, which he received at the conclusion of the MRI study performed in the out-of-state hospital on February 4, 2007.

129. Mr. Casey was fully aware that the February 4, 2007, MRI study had been arranged by Mr. Thompson.

130. Mr. Casey utilized an assumed name and fictitious date of birth, given to him by Mr. Thompson, when submitting to the February 4, 2007, MRI study.

131. Mr. Thompson solicited unnamed third-party(ies) to conceal Mr. Casey's MRI report and image disc that were dated February 4, 2007.

132. Mr. Casey solicited unnamed third-party(ies) to conceal his MRI report and disc that were dated February 4, 2007.

133. Mr. Casey accepted funds from Mr. Thompson and/or unnamed third party(ies) to pay for his February 4, 2007, MRI study, knowing that such payment was never to be reported or claimed within his lawsuit.

134. In 2008, Mr. Thomson and Dr. Fogarty, in furtherance of their permanent brain damage scheme, agreed for Dr. Fogarty to make material misrepresentations, under oath, during his deposition pursuant to Discovery in the original lawsuit.

## ARGUMENTS

### **1. The Court of Common Pleas erred in granting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment respecting Appellant's claim for Abuse of Process due to triable issues of disputed facts regarding the statute of limitations.**

The lower court action is governed by a three-year statute of limitations period. S.C. Code Ann §15-3-530 (2005); see Whitfield Const. Co. v. Bank of Tokyo Trust Co., 338 S.C. 207, 525 S.E.2d 888 (Ct. App. 1999) (applying three-year statute of limitations in abuse of process action); Burgess v. American Cancer So., South Carolina Div., Inc., 300 S.C. 182, 386 S.E.2d 798 (Ct. App. 1989) (recognizing that Section 15-3-530's limitations period (which was previously six years) applies to conspiracy claims). "The limitations period is intended to run against those who are neglectful of their rights and who fail to exercise reasonable diligence in enforcing their rights. However, it is not the policy of the law to unjustly deprive an injured person of a remedy." Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God, 341 S.C. 320, 534 S.E.2d 672 (2000).

In determining when a cause of action arose under an applicable statute of limitations, South Carolina courts apply the "discovery rule," Rumpf v. Massachusetts Mut. Life Ins. Co., 357 S.C. 386, 394, 593 S.E.2d 183, 187 (Ct. App. 2004). In Epstein v. Brown, 363 S.C. 372, 610 S.E.2d 816 (2005) the Court "recognized that, under the discovery rule, the statute of limitations begins to run when a reasonable person of common knowledge and experience would be on notice that a claim against another party might exist." However, "the statute of limitations is triggered not merely by knowledge of an injury but by knowledge of facts, diligently acquired, **sufficient to put an injured**

**person on notice of the existence of a cause of action against another.**” True v. Monteith, 327 S.C. 116, 118, 489 S.E.2d 615, 617 (S.C. 1997) (emphasis added).

Appellants’ Second Amended Complaint forwards the cause of action, Abuse of Process as previously stated. The elements of abuse of process are an ulterior purpose and a willful act in the use of the process not proper in the conduct of the proceeding. Huggins v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc., 249 S.C. 206, 153 S.E.2d 693 (1967). As stated within the Second Amended Complaint, Respondent Fogarty actively sought to prevent discovery efforts respecting the level, purpose and his involvement in the litigation and was successful until his deposition on December 22, 2008. (2<sup>nd</sup> Amend. Comp. ¶¶ 39, 40, 41.) Unjustly, Respondent Fogarty and Respondent Thompson concealed their relationship to the extent of Respondent Fogarty lying under oath during his deposition in a continuing effort to hide his role and level of involvement in the medical malpractice action, with Respondent Thompson suborning his perjury. (2<sup>nd</sup> Amend. Comp. ¶¶ 42, 44, 134.)

On February 4, 2007, Respondent Thompson and Respondent Casey engaged in secret medical testing, an MRI, which they knew if negative would be disastrous to their medical malpractice claim by having it performed under a fictitious name, date of birth and in another state. (2<sup>nd</sup> Amend. Comp. ¶¶ 85, 86, 87, 126.) Approximately seven months after the secret MRI test, Respondent Thompson advised Respondent Casey to lie under oath during his deposition, thereby abandoning Respondent Thompson’s ethical obligations to the Court pursuant to Rule 3.3 in an effort to continue their abuse of discovery efforts by the Appellants. (2<sup>nd</sup> Amend. Comp. ¶¶ 90, 91.)

Between February 4, 2007 and 2009, Respondent Casey, in furtherance of Respondent Fogarty and Respondent Thompson's permanent brain damage scheme, willingly took part with Respondent Thompson, and other unnamed third party(ies) in their efforts to circumvent the Rules of Civil Procedure. (2<sup>nd</sup> Amend. Comp. ¶ 125.) Respondent Thompson received the negative results, yet continued to litigate the matter without revealing the MRI test or report to the Appellants, with the Appellants only learning of the MRI by virtue of an anonymous letter. (2<sup>nd</sup> Amend. Comp. ¶¶ 88, 89, 92, 126.)

The MRI was a materially important piece of evidence to the Appellants, which was withheld, concealed, and secreted from them by Respondent Casey and Respondent Thompson. (2<sup>nd</sup> Amend. Comp. ¶ 94.) By the time the Appellants were aware of the MRI, in excess of thirty depositions had been taken, including the Appellants, eight treating physicians and five medical experts. (2<sup>nd</sup> Amend. Comp. ¶¶ 95, 96.)

It is well settled that the mere filing of a lawsuit does not give rise to a cause of action for an abuse of process claim. ("Hence, to sustain a claim for the tort, a party must allege facts sufficient to show not only that the lawsuit was brought for an ulterior purpose, i.e. for collateral reasons, but that willful acts were taken through which the process was misapplied or abused." Food Lion, Inc. v. United Food & Commercial Workers Inter. Union, 567 S.E.2d 251, 351 S.A. 65 (S.C.App. 2002). An aggrieved party must be aware of facts sufficient to allege not only the inception of a lawsuit but an ulterior purpose and a willful act in the use of the process not proper in the conduct of the proceeding. (Food Lion, Inc. v. United Food & Commercial Workers Inter. Union, 567 S.E.2d 251, 351 S.A. 65 (S.C.App. 2002). Appellants' Second Amended Complaint

alleges, in great detail, the depths the Respondents conducted themselves to avoid discovery of their ulterior purposes, willful acts in the use of the process not proper in the conduct of the proceedings and their conjoined efforts which were concealed until sometime within 2008.

Plaintiffs' verified Second Amended Complaint and Plaintiffs' affidavits allege, in great detail, the depths the Defendants conducted themselves to avoid discovery of their ulterior purposes, willful acts in the use of the process not proper in the conduct of the proceedings and their conjoined efforts which were concealed until sometime within 2008. (Affidavits of Plaintiffs Feldman, Upstate Lung and Critical Care Specialists, P.C. and Boscia, filed June 16, 2017)

Defendants' did not specify a particular date as to when they believe the statute of limitation was triggered, but rather based their assertion on one (1) email from Plaintiff Feldman to Plaintiff Boscia dated August 11, 2007, before any depositions were taken. It is important to note that attorney Spencer King had to Notice Defendant Casey for deposition, as well as chase Defendant Fogarty for over a year, in the underlying medical malpractice litigation, in what seemed an insurmountable task even to get them to sit for their depositions and begin the discovery process. (EXHIBIT 1, King November 19, 2008 letter to Thompson and Turner, GUNN 001685-86)

It has been discovered subsequent to the April 1, 2016 discovery production that the three different versions of the July 21, 2005 note was published with each increasingly dramatizing Casey's alleged injury as well as its causation, ending in a final version which concluded that Casey had "undoubtedly" suffered brain injury as a result of the surgical procedure conducted by Feldman. (EXHIBIT 2, King Deposition, March

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