COPY

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Trial Court Case No. 2010-CP-42-05743

Appellate Case No. 2017-002522

Gregory J. Feldman, MD, Joseph A. Boscia, III, MD, Upstate Lung
& Critical Care Specialists, PC,.....Appellants,

v.

Ray E. ("Chuck") Thompson, and Charles M. Fogarty, Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

RECEIVED
OCT 18 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Matthew H. Henrikson
Henrikson Law Firm
1164 Woodruff Road
Greenville, SC 29607

Michael B.T. Wilkes
Ellen S. Cheek
Wilkes Law Firm, P.A.
127 Dunbar Street, Ste 200
Spartanburg, SC 29306

Attorney for Ray E. "Chuck" Thompson

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

ARGUMENT

I. **The Circuit Court Correctly Held That Appellants' Abuse Of Process Claim Is Barred By The Statute Of Limitations.**

The circuit court properly found that Appellants' abuse of process claim is barred by the statute of limitations. This is because the record shows that more than three years before Appellants filed this suit in October 2010, Appellants had formed the actual belief that they held actionable claims against Respondents, arising from improper acts they believed Respondents had committed in the course of developing Note A and filing the MMA. The record also shows that before concluding in writing that they possessed an abuse of process and civil conspiracy claim against Respondents, Appellants had assessed that Fogarty's fraudulent Note A and Thompson's filing suit based on that record rendered the entire MMA an abusive action filed for the improper purposes of damaging Appellants and improperly obtaining disability benefits for Casey, who they contend was not injured. Although Appellants knew they had been injured by Respondents' alleged bad acts by August 2007 and knew that they held some claims against Respondents for violating their legal rights, Appellants waited more than three years after that date to file the instant suit. Accordingly, their abuse of process claim is time-barred.

A. **Abuse of Process**

Abuse of process is "the employment of legal process for some purpose other than that for which it was intended by the law to effect – the improper use of a regularly issued process." *Huggins v. Winn–Dixie Greenville, Inc.*, 249 S.C. 206, 210, 153 S.E.2d 693, 695 (1967). "The essential elements of abuse of process are (1) an ulterior purpose, and (2) a willful act in the use of the process that is not proper in the regular conduct of the proceeding." *Palleres v. Seinar*, 407 S.C. 359, 370, 756 S.E.2d 128, 133 (2014).

To sustain an abuse of process claim, a party must allege facts sufficient to show not only

that the lawsuit was brought for an ulterior purpose, *i.e.*, for collateral reasons, but that willful acts were taken through which the process was abused. *Food Lion, Inc. v. United Food & Comm. Workers Int'l Union*, 351 S.C. 65, 76, 567 S.E.2d 251, 256 (Ct. App. 2003). Significantly, “the willful act requirement is not limited to those abusive acts occurring after process has issued, but includes coercive or extortionate acts that cause process to issue in the first instance.” *Id.* at 71, 567 S.E.2d at 254, n. 3 (emphasis added). Accordingly, “an abuse of process action may lie if a party prosecutes an ‘entire lawsuit’ for collateral purposes.” *Id.* 351 S.C. at 73, 567 S.E.2d at 255; *Huggins*, 249 S.C. at 212, 153 S.E.2d at 696 (recognizing that an entire lawsuit can constitute an abuse of process, when that lawsuit results from and is “tainted throughout” by improper acts that cause the process to issue in the first place). A defendant “cannot divorce itself from responsibility” for legal proceedings that result from improperly-motivated actions that precede the issuance of process. *Id.*

B. The Statute of Limitations and Discovery Rule

Abuse of process claims are governed by a three-year statute of limitations period. S.C. Code Ann. § 15–3–530; *Whitfield Const. Co. v. Bank of Tokyo Trust Co.*, 338 S.C. 207, 525 S.E.2d 888 (Ct. App. 1999).

“A statute of limitations is a procedural device that operates as a defense to limit the remedy available from an existing cause of action.” *Capco of Summerville, Inc. v. J.H. Gayle Const. Co., Inc.*, 368 S.C. 137, 142, 628 S.E.2d 38, 41 (2006). “Statutes of limitations are not simply technicalities;” instead, they “embody important public policy considerations in that they stimulate activity, punish negligence, and promote repose by giving security and stability to human affairs.” *Moates v. Bobb*, 322 S.C. 172, 176, 470 S.E.2d 402, 404 (Ct. App. 1996). These statutes relieve courts of the burden of trying stale claims of those who have slept on their

rights, and “ensure litigation is brought within a reasonable time in order that evidence be reasonably available and there be some end to litigation.” *Transp. Ins. Co. and Flagstar Corp. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund*, 389 S.C. 422, 428, 699 S.E.2d 687, 690 (2010) (citations and internal punctuation omitted).

The limitations period established by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530 begins to run when the plaintiff “knew or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known that he had a cause of action.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-535. Therefore, in determining when a cause of action arose under an applicable statute of limitations, South Carolina courts apply the “discovery rule.” *Rumpf v. Mass. Mut. Life Ins. Co.*, 357 S.C. 386, 394, 593 S.E.2d 183, 187 (Ct. App. 2004). Under the discovery rule, the limitations period begins to run on the date the party either knew, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, that some legal right had been invaded. *City of Newberry v. Newberry Elec. Co-op., Inc.*, 387 S.C. 254, 260, 692 S.E.2d 510, 513 (2010). The exercise of reasonable diligence means that an injured party must act with some promptness where the facts and circumstances of an injury would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of his has been invaded or that some claim against another party might exist. *Snell v. Columbia Gun Exch., Inc.*, 276 S.C. 301, 303, 278 S.E.2d 333, 334 (1981).

The discovery rule thus focuses on when the complaining party acquired knowledge of any existing facts sufficient to put the party on inquiry which, if developed, would disclose alleged wrongdoing. *Burgess v. Am. Cancer Soc., S.C. Div., Inc.*, 300 S.C. 182, 186-87, 386 S.E.2d 798, 800 (Ct. App. 1989). “Moreover, although a party claims ignorance of existing facts and circumstances, the same result [*i.e.*, the statute of limitation’s running] follows if such facts and circumstances could have been known to the party through the exercise of ordinary care and

reasonable diligence.” *Id.* The statute of limitations therefore begins to run on the date a plaintiff knew or should have known that he had a claim, and not when the plaintiff sought advice of counsel, or developed a full-blown theory of recovery, or discovered a witness to support or prove his case, or “obtain[ed] actual knowledge of either the potential claim or the facts giving rise thereto.” *Gibson v. Bank of Am., N.A.*, 383 S.C. 399, 406, 680 S.E.2d 778, 782 (Ct. App. 2009). “Moreover, the focus is upon the date of discovery of the injury, not the date of discovery of the wrongdoer:

The important date under the discovery rule is the date that a plaintiff discovers the injury, not the date of the discovery of the identity of another alleged wrongdoer. If, on the date of injury, a plaintiff knows or should know that she had some claim against someone else, the statute of limitations begins to run for all claims based on that injury.

Wiggins v. Edwards, 314 S.C. 126, 128, 442 S.E.2d 169, 170 (1994) (citation omitted).

C. The Statute of Limitations Began Running on Appellants’ Abuse of Process Claim No Later Than August 2007.

Appellants’ abuse of process claim against Respondents is time-barred, because Feldman’s emails prove that in August and September 2007, Appellants held the actual belief that they possessed actionable legal claims against Respondents – specifically, the two causes of action Appellants asserted in this case – and because the case evidence conclusively shows that Appellants formed those actual beliefs based on improper acts they believed Respondents had committed in manufacturing a false basis for and filing the MMA for improper purpose. The record clearly shows that the facts and circumstances of which Appellants were aware by July 2006 caused them to believe that they had been damaged by Respondents’ abuse of the legal process that was the MMA, and that they possessed resulting legal claims against Respondents. In addition to researching the claims they believed arose from Respondents’ alleged misdeeds relating to the MMA and advising their counsel that they wanted to sue Respondents,

Respondents then recorded in writing in August and September 2007 their actual beliefs that they possessed claims relating to their MMA-related injuries. More concrete proof that the statute of limitations on Appellants' claims expired before they filed this suit in October 2010 could hardly exist.

After learning in July 2006 that Fogarty had authored Note A and concluding that the MMA was a fraudulent filing that Fogarty was masterminding in order to destroy Appellants, Feldman carefully researched the claims Appellants could file against Respondents for embroiling them in fraudulent litigation. On August 11, 2007, Feldman emailed Boscia that they had claims against "at least" Respondents and Casey for civil conspiracy, and that "Abuse of Process . . . is already fact[.]" (R. p. 5052.) Feldman followed this email with messages in August and September 2007 regarding the elements of the abuse of process claim he believed Appellants held against Respondents, and even the statute of limitations applicable to those claims. (R. pp. 5051, 5053, 5065, 5067.)

Significantly, the actual beliefs stated in Feldman's August and September 2007 emails are entirely consistent with Appellants' deposition testimony and the case record as a whole, which show that prior to those dates, Appellants had assessed the MMA as being a fraudulent lawsuit that was based on a false medical record manufactured by Feldman's nemesis, and that was interposed to harm them and for other improper purposes; and that these beliefs prompted Feldman to conduct his extensive legal research into the claims Appellants could file against Respondents on those bases. More specifically, the record shows:

- Beginning in 2000, after Feldman left Fogarty's medical practice, Feldman believed Fogarty became obsessed with Feldman and started actively attempting to damage Feldman and his business associates. (R. p. 1245, line 4-p. 1248, line 25.)

- In September 2004, Feldman filed a business lawsuit against Fogarty, claiming that Fogarty was defaming Feldman's business and intentionally interfering with its contracts. (R. p. 1249, line 25-p: 1252, line 12; pp. 1840-1845.)

- In May 2006, when Appellants were served with the MMA, they immediately assessed the suit as lacking merit. Feldman never believed that Casey ever had brain damage, and Appellants did not believe even for "a second" that the lawsuit was a legitimate medical malpractice action. (R. p. 1400, lines 3-7.)

- In May 2006, when the MMA was filed and the *SHJ* Article publicizing it appeared, Appellants began suffering damages to their reputations and medical practice. (R. p. 1271, line 6-p. 1272, line 18; p. 2375, line 10-p. 2376, line 4; p. 2377, line 20-p. 2378, line 15.)

- By July 2006, Appellants learned of Fogarty's involvement with the MMA, when they obtained Fogarty's Note A through discovery. They recognized that Note A contained the air embolism theory that formed the basis of the claims asserted in the MMA. (R. p. 1303, line 10-p. 1304, line 24; p. 1306, lines 15-24; p. 2785, line 12-2787, line 18.)

- Feldman believed that Fogarty's statement in Note A that Casey "undoubtedly had air emboli" not only was "outlandish and crazy," but was a physical impossibility. (R. p. 1296, line 5-p. 1298, line 3.)

- Fogarty's involvement in the MMA and the fact that Note A declared that Casey "undoubtedly" had suffered an air embolism caused Appellants to believe the MMA was not simply a frivolous case, but instead was a fraudulent and abusive case orchestrated and masterminded by Fogarty. Appellants also believed that Thompson abused the legal process by filing the MMA to advance Fogarty's agenda of damaging Appellants, and to obtain unwarranted disability benefits for Casey. (R. p. 1187, line 22-p. 1189, line 20.)

- Feldman believed that a small part of Fogarty's scheme to destroy Appellants through the MMA included his leaking news of the lawsuit to the *Spartanburg Herald-Journal*. (R. p. 1271, line 1-p. 1272, line 18; p. 2787 line 4-p. 2789, line 12; p. 2792, line 21-p. 2794, line 25.)

- Beginning early in the MMA and persisting throughout that case, Feldman advised King that he believed Fogarty was orchestrating the MMA and was attempting to damage Appellants through that lawsuit and the publication of the *SHJ* Article. Feldman also believed and advised King that Appellants held legal claims against Respondents in relation to the MMA, and that he wanted to sue Respondents. (R. p. 1396, line 5-p. 1397, line 19; p. 1403, lines 1-13; p. 1691, line 14-p. 1626, line 18; p. 2787, line 19-p. 2789, line 12; p. 2792, line 21-p. 2795, line 14; p. 2796, line 18-2799, line 5.)

- No later than June 2007, Feldman started performing significant amounts of Internet research on tort claims he believed Appellants could assert against Respondents in relation to the misdeeds he believed they committed in relation to the MMA, which he believed rendered that entire lawsuit abusive. The causes of action Feldman explored included invasion of privacy, slander, civil conspiracy, and "definitely" abuse of process. (R. p. 5047; p. 1403, line 1-p. 1404, line 8; p. 1619, line 14-p. 1628, line 6.)

- On August 11, 2007, Feldman sent Boscia an email containing legal research Feldman had performed on the causes of action he believed Appellants possessed against Respondents as a result of the improper acts he believes they committed in forming and filing the MMA. (Mann 1168.) This email stated Feldman's belief that Appellants had causes of action against Respondents for abuse of process and conspiracy. (R. p. 5052.)

- On August 17, 2007, and September 27, 2007, Feldman sent himself additional emails which included his legal research regarding the abuse of process and civil conspiracy claims he

believed Appellants possessed against Respondents in relation to the MMA, and regarding the statute of limitations applicable to those claims. (R. pp. 5051, 5053, 5065, 5067.)

- On September 4, 2007, and October 10, 2007, King reported to the JUA that Feldman believed Fogarty was supporting Casey in the MMA and wished to file suit against him, and that King had advised Feldman to seek the advice of others if he wished to seek redress. (R. pp. 5037-5039, at 5038; p. 5044.)

- On regular bases throughout the MMA, Feldman reminded Mann that he wished to sue Respondents for abuse of process and other claims, and that he was aware that a statute of limitations applied to those claims. Feldman was consistently advised that Appellants needed to wait until after the MMA resolved to file any suit against Respondents. (R. pp. 5053, 5060, 5068, 5069-5070.)

- The final order in the MMA was filed on or after September 27, 2010. (*See* R. p. 5033.) Appellants filed this action on October 27, 2010.

The evidence that is contained in the case record and summarized above conclusively shows that when Feldman authored his August and September 2007 emails, Appellants held the actual beliefs that started the statute of limitations' running on Appellants' abuse of process claim at least by the date of those messages: Appellants believed that they held abuse of process and civil conspiracy claims against Respondents based on the improper acts Appellants believed Respondents had committed in relation to the MMA, and that they believed rendered that entire action an abuse of process that had damaged them. Those willful acts included Fogarty's having authored Note A prior to the MMA's filing in May 2006 to include the "undoubtedly" language required to file the MMA, when Casey was not actually injured, and for the wrongful purpose of embroiling Appellants in fraudulent litigation and damaging their reputations. Those willful acts

also included Thompson's abusing the process of the MMA by filing that lawsuit in May 2006 based on Fogarty's fraudulent Note A, in order to advance Fogarty's agenda of destroying Appellants and to secure disability benefits for the un-injured Casey. Those willful acts also included Fogarty's leaking news of the MMA to the media, such that the *SHJ* Article was published in May 2006.

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